# Wheezing defined

# Dimos Gidaris<sup>1</sup>, Steve Cunningham<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Ist Paediatric Department, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Hippokrateion General Hospital, 9A, Pantazopoulou str, Ampelokipi 56121, Thessaloniki, Greece, <sup>2</sup>Royal Hospital for Sick Children, 9, Sciennes Road, Edinburgh EH9 1LF, UK

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. "Parents vs. clinicians"
- 4. "Clinicians vs. clinicians and other health professionals"
- 5. "Parents vs. children"
- 6. Video and wheezing
- 7. Conclusions
- 8. Parental education and wheezing
- 9. Acknowledgements
- 10. References

# 1. ABSTRACT

Wheeze is both a symptom to parents (reported as noisy breathing) and a sign to clinical staff – with very differing perspectives between parents and clinicians on what constitutes "wheeze". The purpose of this article is to consider these differences of understanding from the perspective of different stakeholders so that nobody is "lost in translation". Misunderstandings may lead to epidemiologic and treatment faults. Every effort should be made to educate parents and improve their communications with clinicians.

## 2. INTRODUCTION

Noisy breathing is one of the most common symptoms reported by parents of infants and older children (1). Wheeze is both symptom to parents (reported as noisy breathing) and sign to clinical staff – with very differing perspectives between parents and clinicians on what constitutes "wheeze". To make things even more complicated - nearly 200 years after the invention of the stethoscope by Laennec (2, 3) – and despite wheeze being the most common adventitious lung sound (4), health care providers rarely agree with each other (5-7).

The purpose of this article is to consider these differences of understanding from the perspective of different stakeholders so that nobody is "lost in translation". The need for clarity is important, as most epidemiologic studies of asthma rely on parental reporting of wheeze (8, 9). With tremendous variation in the prevalence of reported "recent wheeze" (between different countries and time periods) could much of this be attributable to different parental understandings of the term or are the differences indeed real? (10-14). "Are we too ready to diagnose asthma in children?" as Keely and Silverman wondered back in 1999? (15) Additionally, measuring bronchial hyper-reactivity and inflammation in children still remains problematic; "doctor-diagnosed asthma' and 'doctor-observed wheeze' cannot be considered synonymous (15).

Wheeze has been defined as a high pitched, continuous musical noise, often associated with prolonged expiration (16-18). The word "continuous" in the adult literature relates to a minimum duration of 250msec (19). Whilst predominantly expiratory noise, the noise may also be present on inspiration if airways obstruction is severe (20). "Whistling" is commonly incorporated in the definition and this may have important consequences; Turner et al have shown that compared with other respiratory sounds, whistle is likely to persist and require asthma treatment in future (21). The pathophysiology of wheeze is still debated, but it is generally accepted that it can arise from both large and small airways obstruction (16), as the audible manifestation of airway oscillations at points of flow limitation (17, 22). Wheeze has an extensive differential diagnosis (remember the old adage "all that wheezes is not asthma"), which may be found in any major textbook of paediatric pulmonology (23) or in review publications (24, 25).

## 3. "PARENTS VS CLINICIANS"

Paediatrics is unique in that on most occasions history is taken from a third party – the parent - not the patient themselves. When parents and clinicians have different meanings for the wheeze, outcomes that rely on identification of wheeze (in both epidemiologic and interventional studies) may be called into question.

Discrepancies between parental and clinician perspectives of wheeze have been studied over the last 10 years. Groups from the U.K. have highlighted the discrepancy between parental and clinician reporting of wheeze (26, 27). Cane et al showed that parents do not share with doctors epidemiological definitions and clinical labeling of childhood wheeze in a consistent manner (26). A 12 item questionnaire was administered to parents (English and non-English) of children attending a chest clinic. Open questioning regarding recognition of wheeze led 26% of the parents to report only non-auditory cues, like difficulty in breathing and being unwell. In response to closed questions, 23% of the parents did not select "what you hear" as an option for knowing when their child is wheezy. We could safely assume that these percentages would be even higher in the general population, since the

authors excluded from this already selected population of patients that had already been referred to a specialist those parents that admitted not recognizing the term "wheeze". In the same study parents of children that attended the accident and emergency department agreed with the clinicians in less than half of the occasions regarding wheeze/asthma. Additionally, 19% of parents reported cough when clinicians found wheeze and 14% of the parents used the term "wheeze" when doctors did not confirm the presence of wheeze. Therefore this study showed that proxy reports of wheeze can be falsely positive or negative and that parental interpretation of wheeze may differ substantially from that of physicians. Elphick et al from Sheffield emphasized the inaccuracy involved in the use of the term wheeze in clinical practice; they performed a survey of respiratory sounds in infants younger than 18 months that were hospitalized, attended respiratory clinics or were seen in the community for noisy breathing (27). Initially 53% of the parents claimed that their children were wheezing, but one third of those parents dropped the term "wheeze" by the end of the interview. At the same time the use of the word "ruttle" (a term that is synonymous to "rattle" in Yorkshire) doubled (from 40% at the beginning of the interview to 81% at the end of it) signifying that lots of parents confuse ruttle and wheeze; it seems that wheeze is probably over reported whereas ruttle/rattle is underreported. These dramatic changes in the figures followed more detailed questioning and the use of videos or imitations of the sounds by the clinician. In the same study it was shown that parents of children seen on an outpatient basis were more likely to use the term wheeze wrongly compared to parents of hospitalized children. This finding implies that in the general population these discrepancies in the terminology may be even more pronounced. Another interesting finding of this important study was that only 12% of parents that used the term "wheeze" incorporated whistle in their description in contrast to what most epidemiological large scale studies portray. The authors concluded that it is the doctor's responsibility to ensure that the interpretation of the terminology used by the history providers reflects accurately the noisy symptom they mean to describe. The same group of investigators had previously shown that the acoustic properties of wheeze and ruttle are quite distinct (28). Recently a group from Portugal contributed to this ongoing discussion from the perspective of a non-English speaking country with findings that may be applicable to other non-English speaking populations. (29). Fernandez et al performed a cross-sectional questionnaire study in hospital and community settings using a convenience sample of parents accompanying children younger than 14 years of age. They found that 34% of the participants in this high response rate study were not familiar with the term "wheezing". Additionally, nearly one quarter of the parents that claimed knowing the term "wheezing" failed to identify it as a sound and 13% of them did not name the chest as its site of origin. "Wheezing" was located to the nose and mouth by 24 % of the history providers. Furthermore, 43% of the parents that claimed to know the term "wheezing" reported ruttles- or snoring- like terms as synonyms of "wheezing". In this population, participants that reported knowing the term had a prevalence of "ever wheezing" of 51%. The study

emphasizes that parental understanding of "wheezing" is significantly different from that of health professionals, since 97% of the latter identified "wheezing" as a sound (29). It would be interesting to find out more on this subject by studies in other non-English speaking nations. Mohangoo et al from the Netherlands showed in the Generation R study that the prevalence of wheezing derived from questionnaires was significantly higher than the prevalence estimated from physician interview; only 41% of questionnaire – reported symptoms were verified by the doctor interview (30). In a prospective study, Lowe et al compared three groups: children with physician confirmed wheeze to children; parentally reported but unconfirmed wheeze; children who had never wheezed (31). In their study 41% of parents reported that their child had wheezed, with 28.6% of the study participants having wheeze confirmed by a health care professional. Lung function (plethysmographic measurement of specific airway resistance) was significantly poorer when wheeze was confirmed by a physician. This study emphasizes the need of verifying parental reports of wheeze by paediatricians (30) and ideally by objective lung function tests (31). The parental perspective of childhood asthma symptoms has been vividly described by Ostergaard's qualitative studies with semi-structured interviews (32). Ostergaard emphasizes the importance of listening to the parents in order to make the diagnosis and to secure their participation in anti-inflammatory treatment. The following quotes from the interviews in the study are enlightening: "The doctors ask: does he wheeze or rattle? But you know, all these words. I think it can be difficult to distinguish. Because he never wheezes...It's just that when he eats, he breathes like a bull, ...so, it has nothing resembling wheezing or rattling or anything like that, he snorts.". "It's the breathing that is affected immediately. And the coughing. Does she also wheeze? Yes, very much. It sounds like a coffee machine. Like what? A coffee-machine, which has not been decalcified." One of the most striking findings in this field came from Michel et al that reported in a large population-based study that 17% of the families didn't define wheeze as a whistling noise despite the fact that a description of wheeze was included in the questionnaire (14).

# 4. "CLINICIANS VS CLINICIANS AND OTHER HEALTH PROFESSIONALS"

"Putting the blame" on the parents would be convenient. But have we done our part? Are health professionals consistent in their use of the term "wheeze"? It has been well known for a long time now that clinicians despite the existence of standardized nomenclature (33-35) - show an intra-observer agreement on lung sounds recognition that is far from satisfactory (36-38). Considering that most of the studies showing that the level of agreement on findings of auscultation is poor come from the adult literature, one can only imagine that a screaming infant or toddler does not make things easier... We hope that the work of the recently assembled taskforce of the European Respiratory Society (http://lungsounds-ers.net/) will create a reference database on respiratory sounds and will help to further standardize their nomenclature.

The findings from Cane and McKenzie are characteristic: In an effort to explore parental interpretation of children's respiratory symptoms on video they filmed 55 children; out of these they chose 15 children showing single clinical features. Still, in only 10 out of the 15 selected clips agreement was reached between 5 clinicians (39). These figures highlight that clinicians should improve the communication between themselves before asking too much from the parents. Elphick et al performed a blinded prospective comparison of acoustic analysis with stethoscopic examination in hospitalized infants with noisy breathing arising from a lower respiratory tract illness (40). Two experienced specialist registrars with additional experience in respiratory paediatrics exhibited poor agreement regarding stethoscopic identification of wheeze: specifically, they only agreed in 20 out of 36 infants. This agreement was far lower than that for rattles or crackles (40). The authors concluded that auscultation is not reliable for the evaluation of wheezing illnesses in infancy, leaving all the rest of us wondering what the alternative would be...May be Forgacs was right back in 1969 when he described the stethoscope as a "a largely decorative tool in so far as its value in diagnosis of pulmonary disease is concerned" (41). These findings also raise the question about the level of agreement regarding respiratory signs among more junior staff that are in the front line during busy on calls (17); given the fact that treatment may be quite different (42), the therapeutic implications of respiratory sounds misclassification by the clinicians are obvious (43, 44).

It is not just the level of expertise or experience among medical staff; physical therapists exhibit similarly problematic reliability, especially when inexperienced, regarding identification of wheeze and other adventitious lung sounds (7). Doctors and other health professionals may also have different understandings regarding wheeze. In the previously mentioned paper from Portugal, Fernadez et al showed that 22% of nurses and physiotherapists did not locate wheezing to the chest; in the same paper 38% of nurses and physiotherapists reported using visual cues and 14% of them a sense of being unwell in order to identify wheezing. All these figures were statistically significantly higher compared to what was reported by doctors (29). Therefore caution should be exercised when interprofessional discussion takes place.

# 5. "PARENTS VS. CHILDREN"

We have already seen that parents and health care professionals are not always in agreement regarding respiratory sounds (16). But what happens inside the family? Do parents and children share the same views regarding asthma symptoms and especially regarding wheezing? Obviously, infants and younger children cannot be questioned, leaving only older children to have their say. An American study on Latino asthmatic children concluded that children were more likely than their parents to report wheezing (45). The same authors showed that child and not parental reports of wheezing correlated significantly with a pulmonary function deficit. Davies *et al* produced similar results showing that agreement regarding reporting of

wheezing was slight (kappa=0.16), with parents once more underreporting wheezing compared to the children themselves (46). Another study from the University of Alabama confirmed that children report more asthma symptoms (including wheezing) compared to their parents and the authors conclude that the use of child responses is an equally valuable option in case-detection procedures (47). Other authors have similarly proposed that reliance on parental answers is not likely to improve the reliability of a school-based asthma surveillance programme (48); Yu and Wong showed that in children older than ten years of age administering the questionnaires to children themselves will yield better information (49).

### 6. VIDEO AND WHEEZING

The use of video has been suggested as a useful way of educating health care professionals and as an adjunct in standardizing definitions of simple respiratory signs (50). Also, a video clip demonstrating an episode of wheezing has been shown to facilitate the doctor – parent communication in children of diverse ethnic backgrounds (51). We described earlier the difficulties with recording good quality clips that Cane and McKenzie faced in their study (39). Saglani et al found that in a tertiary centre the application of a video questionnaire may be a useful tool in infants and preschoolers with reported wheeze; they proposed that its use will help clinicians to identify children with upper airway abnormalities. Importantly, none of the children in their study whose parents identified only wheeze on the video questionnaire had any abnormalities detected on bronchoscopy (52). It appears that in every day clinical practice the use of a characteristic video by the clinician may improve the information yield during history taking (27, 52).

Video questionnaires have also been used in epidemiological studies (53-62). A common finding from these studies is that written questionnaires provide higher prevalence of wheeze compared to video questionnaires (56, 62).

## 7. PARENTAL EDUCATION AND WHEEZING

Children's respiratory health is well known to be associated with parental education (63). The association between parental education and asthma symptoms is complex; children from highly educated parents appear to be protected from non-atopic respiratory symptoms; this observation has been attributed to a lower rate of household smoking and a higher rate of breastfeeding (64, 65). Dom et al suggested that aspects associated with a high maternal educational level may be important in the development of atopy. In their study, atopic recurrent wheezing was positively associated with the education of the parents, whereas non-atopic recurrent wheezing was negatively associated (66): others have questioned this link (67). An international multi-centre study comparing risk factors in infants living in affluent and non-affluent areas of the world reported that university studies of mother protected only in Latin America (8, 68). These associations will continue to puzzle investigators for a long time. What is

more important from an educational point of view is to explore the effect of parental educational status on correct use of terminology and to find out how we can educate parents to recognize asthma symptoms like wheeze in a more efficient manner. The importance of this was underlined in a recent meta-analysis which concluded that "providing pediatric asthma education reduces mean number of hospitalizations and emergency department visits and the odds of an emergency department visit for asthma" (69). Michel et al found that maternal and not paternal education was positively associated with a correct definition of wheeze. They calculated that "a welleducated, English speaking mother living in a non deprived neighborhood, with a wheezing child and a personal history of asthma has a probability of 96% of knowing that wheeze means whistling. For a non English-speaking father, from a deprived area and with no family history of asthma or wheeze, the figure would be 52%". Fernandez et al showed that parents of lower educational background more frequently did not recognize the term "wheezing" and even when they were familiar with it they less frequently associated wheeze with auditory cues (29). This comes to no surprise since social, cultural and linguistic characteristics have been shown to influence caregivers' understandings of respiratory symptoms (70-73).

Can we teach our patients' families what wheeze really is so that misunderstandings are avoided? Lee *et al* studied parental evaluation of wheezing in children with asthma after teaching sessions that lasted a few minutes. They found that the accuracy of wheezing detection in parents was improving the more experience they gained. They concluded that the parents can be taught to detect wheezing, since in their study population the parents could identify wheezing in 99% of the examinations when the wheezing was easily heard by the physician. Results were less impressive when the physician barely heard the wheezing (74).

#### 8. CONCLUSIONS

Parental reports of wheezing should always be verified by a health care professional. Terminology should be clarified to avoid any misunderstandings that may lead to epidemiologic and treatment faults. Every effort should be made to educate parents and improve their communications with the clinician in charge of their child's

# 9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Dr K. Priftis, Associate Professor of Paediatric Respiratory Medicine in the University of Athens for his kind support and constructive comments.

#### 10. REFERENCES

1. A. J. Thornton, C. J. Morley, P. H. Hewson, T. J. Cole, M. A. Fowler and J. M. Tunnacliffe: Symptoms in 298 infants under 6 months old, seen at home. *Arch Dis Child*, 65 (3), 280-285 (1990)

- 2. H. Markel: The Stethoscope and the Art of Listening. *N Engl J Med*, 354 (6), 551-553 (2006)
- 3. A. Fayssoil: René Laennec (1781–1826) and the Invention of the Stethoscope. *Am J Cardiol*, 104 (5), 743-744 (2009)
- 4. H. Pasterkamp: Wheeze detection in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Respir Care*, 53 (10), 1283-4 (2008)
- 5. H. Pasterkamp, S. Kraman and G. Wodicka: Respiratory Sounds. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 156 (3), 974-987 (1997)
- 6. H. Pasterkamp, M. Montgomery and W. Wiebicke: Nomenclature used by health care professionals to describe breath sounds in asthma. *Chest*, 92 (2), 346-352 (1987)
- 7. D. Brooks and J. Thomas: Interrater Reliability of Auscultation of Breath Sounds Among Physical Therapists. *PhysTher*, 75 (12), 1082-1088 (1995)
- 8. L. Garcia-Marcos, J. Mallol, D. Solé, P. L. P. Brand and E. S. G. the: International study of wheezing in infants: risk factors in affluent and non-affluent countries during the first year of life. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol*, 21 (5), 878-888 (2010)
- 9. M. Asher, U. Keil, H. Anderson, R. Beasley, J. Crane, F. Martinez, E. Mitchell, N. Pearce, B. Sibbald, A. Stewart and a. et: International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC): rationale and methods. *Eur Respir J*, 8 (3), 483-491 (1995)
- 10. M. I. Asher, S. Montefort, B. Björkstén, C. K. W. Lai, D. P. Strachan, S. K. Weiland and H. Williams: Worldwide time trends in the prevalence of symptoms of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, and eczema in childhood: ISAAC Phases One and Three repeat multicountry cross-sectional surveys. *Lancet*. 368 (9537), 733-743 (2006)
- 11. S. Patel, M.-R. Jarvelin and M. Little: Systematic review of worldwide variations of the prevalence of wheezing symptoms in children. *Environ Health*, 7 (1), 57 (2008)
- 12. H. K. Reddel, D. R. Taylor, E. D. Bateman, L.-P. Boulet, H. A. Boushey, W. W. Busse, T. B. Casale, P. Chanez, P. L. Enright, P. G. Gibson, J. C. de Jongste, H. A. M. Kerstjens, S. C. Lazarus, M. L. Levy, P. M. O'Byrne, M. R. Partridge, I. D. Pavord, M. R. Sears, P. J. Sterk, S. W. Stoloff, S. D. Sullivan, S. J. Szefler, M. D. Thomas, S. E. Wenzel, o. b. o. t. A. T. S. E. R. S. T. F. o. A. Control and Exacerbations: An Official American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society Statement: Asthma Control and Exacerbations. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 180 (1), 59-99 (2009)
- 13. T. P. Usherwood: Factors Affecting Estimates of the Prevalence of Asthma and Wheezing in Childhood. *Fam Pract*, 4 (4), 318-321 (1987)

- 14. G. Michel, M. Silverman, M.-P. F. Strippoli, M. Zwahlen, A. M. Brooke, J. Grigg and C. E. Kuehni: Parental understanding of wheeze and its impact on asthma prevalence estimates. *Eur Respir J*, 28 (6), 1124-1130 (2006)
- 15. D. J. Keeley and M. Silverman: Are we too ready to diagnose asthma in children? *Thorax*, 54 (7), 625-628 (1999)
- 16. C. Mellis: Respiratory noises: how useful are they clinically? *Pediatr Clin North Am*, 56 (1), 1-17 (2009)
- 17. J. Grigg and M. Silverman: Wheezing disorders in children: one or several phenotypes? In: *Eur Respir Mon 37: Respiratory Diseases in Infants and Children*. Ed U. Frey&J. Gerritsen. European Respiratory Society, (2006)
- 18. P. L. P. Brand, E. Baraldi, H. Bisgaard, A. L. Boner, J. A. Castro-Rodriguez, A. Custovic, J. de Blic, J. C. de Jongste, E. Eber, M. L. Everard, U. Frey, M. Gappa, L. Garcia-Marcos, J. Grigg, W. Lenney, P. Le Souëf, S. McKenzie, P. J. F. M. Merkus, F. Midulla, J. Y. Paton, G. Piacentini, P. Pohunek, G. A. Rossi, P. Seddon, M. Silverman, P. D. Sly, S. Stick, A. Valiulis, W. M. C. van Aalderen, J. H. Wildhaber, G. Wennergren, N. Wilson, Z. Zivkovic and A. Bush: Definition, assessment and treatment of wheezing disorders in preschool children: an evidence-based approach. *Eur Respir J*, 32 (4), 1096-1110 (2008)
- 19. N. Meslier, G. Charbonneau and J. Racineux: Wheezes. *Eur Respir J*, 8 (11), 1942-1948 (1995)
- 20. J. Hull, J. Forton and A. Thompson: Paediatric Respiratory Medicine. Oxford University Press, New York (2008)
- 21. S. W. Turner, L. C. A. Craig, P. J. Harbour, S. H. Forbes, G. McNeill, A. Seaton, G. Devereux, G. Russell and P. J. Helms: Early rattles, purrs and whistles as predictors of later wheeze. *Arch Dis Child*, 93 (8), 701-704 (2008)
- 22. N. Gavriely, T. R. Shee, D. W. Cugell and J. B. Grotberg: Flutter in flowlimited collapsible tubes: a mechanism for generation of wheezes. *J Appl Physiol* 66 (5), 2251-226 (1989)
- 23. M. A. Brown, E. von Mutius and W. J. Morgan: Clinical Assessment and Diagnostic Approach to Common Problems. In: *Pediatric Respiratory Medicine*. Ed L. M. Taussig, L. I. Landau, P. Le Souëf, F. D. Martinez, W. J. Morgan&P. D. Sly. Elsevier, Philadelphia (2008)
- 24. B. E. Chipps: Evaluation of infants and children with refractory lower respiratory tract symptoms. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol*, 104 (4), 279-283 (2010)
- 25. S. E. Pedersen, S. S. Hurd, R. F. Lemanske, A. Becker, H. J. Zar, P. D. Sly, M. Soto-Quiroz, G. Wong and E. D. Bateman: Global strategy for the diagnosis and

- management of asthma in children 5 years and younger. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 46 (1), 1-17 (2011)
- 26. R. S. Cane, S. C. Ranganathan and S. A. McKenzie: What do parents of wheezy children understand by "wheeze"? *Arch Dis Child*, 82 (4), 327-332 (2000)
- 27. H. E. Elphick, P. Sherlock, G. Foxall, E. J. Simpson, N. A. Shiell, R. A. Primhak and M. L. Everard: Survey of respiratory sounds in infants. *Arch Dis Child*, 84 (1), 35-39 (2001)
- 28. H. Elphick, S. Ritson, H. Rodgers and M. Everard: When a "wheeze" is not a wheeze: acoustic analysis of breath sounds in infants. *Eur Respir J*, 16 (4), 593-597 (2000)
- 29. R. Fernandes, B. Robalo, C. Calado, S. Medeiros, A. Saianda, J. Figueira, R. Rodrigues, C. Bastardo and T. Bandeira: The multiple meanings of "wheezing": a questionnaire survey in Portuguese for parents and health professionals. *BMC Pediatr*, 11 (1), 112 (2011)
- 30. A. D. Mohangoo, H. J. de Koning, E. Hafkamp-de Groen, J. C. van der Wouden, V. W. V. Jaddoe, H. A. Moll, A. Hofman, J. P. Mackenbach, J. C. de Jongste and H. Raat: A comparison of parent-reported wheezing or shortness of breath among infants as assessed by questionnaire and physician-interview: The Generation R study. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 45 (5), 500-507 (2010)
- 31. L. Lowe, C. S. Murray, L. Martin, J. Deas, E. Cashin, G. Poletti, A. Simpson, A. Woodcock and A. Custovic: Reported versus confirmed wheeze and lung function in early life. *Arch Dis Child*, 89 (6), 540-543 (2004)
- 32. M. S. Ostergaard: Childhood asthma: parents' perspective-a qualitative interview study. *Fam Pract*, 15 (2), 153-157 (1998)
- 33.
- AmericanThoracicSocietyCommitteeonPulmonaryNomenclat ure. *Am Thorac Soc News* 3, 6 (1977)
- 34. R. Mikami, M. Murao, D. W. Cugell, J. Chretien, P. Cole, J. Meier-Sydow, R. L. H. Murphy and R. G. Loudon: International symposium on lung sounds: synopsis of proceedings. *Chest*, 92, 342-345 (1987)
- 35. J. Earis: Lung sounds. *Thorax* 47 (9), 671-672 (1992)
- 36. H. C. Smyllie, L. M. Blendis and P. Armitage: Observer disagreement in physical signs of the respiratory system. *Lancet*, 286 (7409), 412-413 (1965)
- 37. J. Benbassat and R. Baumal: Narrative Review: Should Teaching of the Respiratory Physical Examination Be Restricted Only to Signs with Proven Reliability and Validity? *J Gen Intern Med*, 25 (8), 865-872 (2010)
- 38. M. A. Spiteri, D. G. Cook and S. W. Clarke: Reliability of eliciting physical signs in examination of the chest. *Lancet*, 331 (8590), 873-875 (1988)

- 39. R. S. Cane and S. A. McKenzie: Parents' interpretations of children's respiratory symptoms on video. *Arch DisChild*, 84 (1), 31-34 (2001)
- 40. H. E. Elphick, G. A. Lancaster, A. Solis, A. Majumdar, R. Gupta and R. L. Smyth: Validity and reliability of acoustic analysis of respiratory sounds in infants. *Arch Dis Child*, 89 (11), 1059-1063 (2004)
- 41. P. Forgacs: Lung sounds. Br.J Dis Chest, 63, 1-12 (1969)
- 42. H. E. Elphick, S. Ritson and M. L. Everard: Differential response of wheezes and ruttles to anticholinergics. *Arch Dis Child*, 86 (4), 280-281 (2002)
- 43. J. M. Bhatt and A. R. Smyth: The Management of Pre-School Wheeze. *Paediatr Respir Rev*, 12 (1), 70-77 (2011)
- 44. J. M. Bhatt and A. R. Smyth: A clinical approach to a wheezy infant. *Paediatr Child Health*, 22 (7), 307-309 (2012)
- 45. M. Lara, N. Duan, C. Sherbourne, M. A. Lewis, C. Landon, N. Halfon and R. H. Brook: Differences Between Child and Parent Reports of Symptoms Among Latino Children With Asthma. *Pediatrics*, 102 (6), e68 (1998)
- 46. K. J. Davis, R. DiSantostefano and D. B. Peden: Is Johnny wheezing? Parent-child agreement in the Childhood Asthma in America survey. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol*, 22 (1-Part-I), 31-35 (2011)
- 47. A. R. Wittich, Y. Li and L. B. Gerald: Comparison of Parent and Student Responses to Asthma Surveys: Students Grades 1-4 and Their Parents From an Urban Public School Setting. *J Sch Health*, 76 (6), 236-240 (2006)
- 48. S. Magzamen, K. M. Mortimer, A. Davis and I. B. Tager: School-based asthma surveillance: A comparison of student and parental report. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol*, 16 (8), 669-678 (2005)
- 49. T.-s. I. Yu and T.-w. Wong: Can schoolchildren provide valid answers about their respiratory health experiences in questionnaires? Implications for epidemiological studies. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 37 (1), 37-42 (2004) doi:10.1002/ppul.10403
- 50. M. English, L. New, N. Peshu and K. Marsh: Video assessment of simple respiratory signs. *BMJ*, 313 (7071), 1527-1528 (1996)
- 51. R. Cane, C. Pao and S. McKenzie: Understanding childhood asthma in focus groups: perspectives from mothers of different ethnic backgrounds. *BMC Fam Pract*, 2 (1), 4 (2001)
- 52. S. Saglani, S. A. McKenzie, A. Bush and D. N. R. Payne: A video questionnaire identifies upper airway abnormalities in preschool children with reported wheeze. *Arch DisChild*, 90 (9), 961-964 (2005)

- 53. L. Thompson, J. Diaz, A. Jenny, A. Diaz, N. Bruce and J. Balmes: Nxwisen, ntzarrin or ntzo'lin? Mapping children's respiratory symptoms among indigenous populations in Guatemala. J soc sci med, 65 (7), 1337-1350 (2007)
- 54. R. Shaw, K. Woodman, M. Ayson, S. Dibdin, R. Winkelmann, J. Crane, R. Beasley and N. Pearce: Measuring the Prevalence of Bronchial Hyper-Responsiveness in Children. *Int J Epidemiol*, 24 (3), 597-602 (1995)
- 55. E. S. Schernhammer, C. Vutuc, T. Waldhör and G. Haidinger: Time trends of the prevalence of asthma and allergic disease in Austrian children. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol*, 19 (2), 125-131 (2008)
- 56. M. M. M. Pizzichini, D. Rennie, A. Senthilselvan, B. Taylor, B. F. Habbick and M. R. Sears: Limited agreement between written and video asthma symptom questionnaires. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 30 (4), 307-312 (2000)
- 57. M. H. Kim, J.-W. Kwon, H. B. Kim, Y. Song, J. Yu, W.-K. Kim, B.-J. Kim, S. Y. Lee, K.-W. Kim, H.-M. Ji, K.-E. Kim, Y.-J. Shin, H. Kim and S.-J. Hong: Parent-reported ISAAC written questionnaire may underestimate the prevalence of asthma in children aged 10–12 years. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 47 (1), 36-43 (2012)
- 58. C. R. Houle, C. H. Caldwell, F. G. Conrad, T. A. Joiner, E. A. Parker and N. M. Clark: Blowing the whistle: what do African American adolescents with asthma and their caregivers understand by "wheeze?". *J Asthma*, 47 (1), 26-32 (2010)
- 59. S.-J. Hong, S.-W. Kim, J.-W. Oh, Y.-H. Rah, Y.-M. Ahn, K.-E. Kim, Y. Y. Koh and S. I. Lee: The Validity of the ISAAC Written Questionnaire and the ISAAC Video Questionnaire (AVQ 3.0)for Predicting Asthma Associated with Bronchial Hyperreactivity in a Group of 13-14 Year Old Korean Schoolchildren. *J Korean Med Sci*, 18 (1), 48-52 (2003)
- 60. Gibson, Henry, Shah, Toneguzzi, Francis, Norzila and Davies: Validation of the ISAAC video questionnaire (AVQ3.0) in adolescents from a mixed ethnic background. *Clin Exp Allergy*, 30 (8), 1181-1187 (2000)
- 61. Asher and Weiland: The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC). *Clin Exp Allergy*, 28, 52-66 (1998)
- 62. J. Crane, J. Mallol, R. Beasley, A. Stewart, M. I. Asheron on behalf of the International Study of Asthma Allergies in Childhood Phase I study group: Agreement between written and video questions for comparing asthma symptoms in ISAAC. *Eur Respir J*, 21 (3), 455-461 (2003)
- 63. U. Gehring, S. Pattenden, H. Slachtova, T. Antova, C. Braun-Fahrländer, E. Fabianova, T. Fletcher, C. Galassi, G. Hoek, S. V. Kuzmin, H. Luttmann-Gibson, H. Moshammer, P. Rudnai, R. Zlotkowska and J. Heinrich:

- Parental education and children's respiratory and allergic symptoms in the Pollution and the Young (PATY) study. *Eur Respir J*, 27 (1), 95-107 (2006)
- 64. G. De Meer, S. A. Reijneveld and B. Brunekreef: Wheeze in children: the impact of parental education on atopic and non-atopic symptoms. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol*, 21 (5), 823-830 (2010)
- 65. S. D. Radic, B. S. Gvozdenovic, I. M. Pesic, Z. M. Zivkovic and V. Skodric-Trifunovic: Exposure to tobacco smoke among asthmatic children: parents smoking habits and level of education. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis*, 15 (2), 276-280 (2011)
- 66. S. Dom, J. H. J. Droste, M. A. Sariachvili, M. M. Hagendorens, C. H. Bridts, W. J. Stevens, K. N. Desager, M. H. Wieringa and J. J. Weyler: The influence of parental educational level on the development of atopic sensitization, wheezing and eczema during the first year of life. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol*, 20 (5), 438-447 (2009)
- 67. H. J. Chong Neto, N. A. Rosário and D. C. Chong-Silva: High mother's educational level: An associated factor for wheezing infants? *Pediatr Allergy Immunol*, 20 (5), 505-506 (2009)
- 68. A. Bueso, M. Figueroa, L. Cousin, W. Hoyos, A. E. Martínez-Torres, J. Mallol and L. Garcia-Marcos: Poverty-associated risk factors for wheezing in the first year of life in Honduras and El Salvador. *Allergol Immunopathol (Madr)*, 38 (4), 203-212 (2010)
- 69. J. M. Coffman, M. D. Cabana, H. A. Halpin and E. H. Yelin: Effects of Asthma Education on Children's Use of Acute Care Services: A Meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 121 (3), 575-586 (2008)
- 70. B. Young, G. E. Fitch, M. Dixon-Woods, P. C. Lambert and A. M. Brooke: Parents' accounts of wheeze and asthma related symptoms: a qualitative study. *Arch Dis Child*, 87 (2), 131-134 (2002)
- 71. H. J. Chong Neto, N. Rosario, A. C. Dela Bianca, D. Solé and J. Mallol: Validation of a questionnaire for epidemiologic studies of wheezing in infants. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol*, 18 (1), 86-87 (2007)
- 72. S. K. Weiland, J. Kugler, E. von Mutius, N. Schmitz, C. Fritzsch, U. Wahn and U. Keil: (The language of pediatric asthma patients. A study of symptom description). *Monatsschr Kinderheilkd*, 141 (11), 878-882 (1993)
- 73. G. Netuveli, B. Hurwitz and A. Sheikh: Lineages of language and the diagnosis of asthma. *JRSM*, 100 (1), 19-24 (2007)
- 74. H. Lee, A. Arroyo and W. Rosenfeld: Parents' Evaluations of Wheezing in Their Children With Asthma. *Chest*, 109 (1), 91-93 (1996)

# Wheezing defined

**Key Words:** Wheezing, Children, Noisy Breathing, Review

Send correspondence to: Dimos Gidaris, 1st Paediatric Department, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Hippokrateion General Hospital, 9A, Pantazopoulou str, Ampelokipi 56121, Thessaloniki, Greece, Tel: 00306947932194, Fax: 00302310730581, E-mail: dgidaris@doctors.org.uk